

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Forest Ecology and Management

Forest Ecology and Management

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

# The use of historical range and variability (HRV) in landscape management

# Robert E. Keane<sup>a,\*</sup>, Paul F. Hessburg<sup>b,1</sup>, Peter B. Landres<sup>c</sup>, Fred J. Swanson<sup>d,2</sup>

<sup>a</sup> USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Missoula Fire Sciences Laboratory, 5775 Highway 10 West, Missoula, MT 59808, United States <sup>b</sup> USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Forestry Sciences Laboratory, 1133 North Western Avenue, Wenatchee, WA 98801, United States <sup>c</sup> USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Missoula Forestry Sciences Laboratory, Missoula, MT 59807, United States

<sup>d</sup> USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Forestry Sciences Laboratory, 3200 SW Jefferson Way, Corvallis, OR 97331, WA, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 January 2009 Received in revised form 19 May 2009 Accepted 26 May 2009

Keywords: Ecosystem management Climate change Land management Landscape ecology Historical ecology

# ABSTRACT

This paper examines the past, present, and future use of the concept of historical range and variability (HRV) in land management. The history, central concepts, benefits, and limitations of HRV are presented along with a discussion on the value of HRV in a changing world with rapid climate warming, exotic species invasions, and increased land development. This paper is meant as a reference on the strengths and limitations of applying HRV in land management. Applications of the HRV concept have specific contexts, constraints, and conditions that are relevant to any application and are influential to the extent to which the concept is applied. These conditions notwithstanding, we suggest that the HRV concept offers an objective reference for many applications, and it still offers a comprehensive reference for the short-term and possible long-term management of our nation's landscapes until advances in technology and ecological research provide more suitable and viable approaches in theory and application.

Published by Elsevier B.V.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1026
	1.1. Background	1026
2.	Quantifying HRV	1028
3.	Applying HRV	1030
4.	Advantages of HRV	1030
5.	Limitations of HRV.	1031
	5.1. Limited data	1031
	5.2. Autocorrelation	1031
	5.3. Scale effects	1031
	5.4. Assessment techniques	1032
	5.5. Complexity	1033
	5.6. Conceptual dilemmas	1033
6.	Future of HRV	1033
	6.1. Climate change and HRV	1033
	6.2. Management implications	1034
	Acknowledgements	1035
	References	1035

The use of trade or firm names in this paper is for reader information and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Department of Agriculture of any product or service.

This paper was partly written and prepared by U.S. Government employees on official time, and therefore is in the public domain and not subject to copyright.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 406 329 4846; fax: +1 406 329 4877. *E-mail addresses*: rkeane@fs.fed.us (R.E. Keane), phessburg@fs.fed.us (P.F. Hessburg), plandres@fs.fed.us (P.B. Landres), fswanson@fs.fed.us

<sup>(</sup>F.I. Swanson).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tel.: +1 509 664 1722.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tel.: +1 541 750 7355.

<sup>0378-1127/\$ -</sup> see front matter. Published by Elsevier B.V. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2009.05.035

#### 1. Introduction

The notion of managing ecosystems in a manner consistent with their native structure and processes was ushered into public land management during the 1990s as an alternative to the resource extraction emphasis that was historically employed by some government agencies (Christensen et al., 1996). This practice of ecosystem management demanded that the land be managed as a whole by considering all organisms, large and small, the pattern, abundance, and connectivity of their habitats, and the ecological processes that influence these organisms on the landscape (Bourgeron and Jensen, 1994; Crow and Gustafson, 1997). Terms like biodiversity, ecosystem integrity, and resiliency were used to describe the ultimate goal of ecosystem management – a healthy, sustainable ecosystem that could maintain its structure and organization through time (Whitford and deSoyza, 1999).

To effectively implement ecosystem management, managers required a reference or benchmark to represent the conditions that fully describe functional ecosystems (Cissel et al., 1994; Laughlin et al., 2004). Contemporary conditions could be evaluated against this reference to determine status and change, and also to design treatments that provide society with its sustainable and valuable resources while also returning declining ecosystems to a more natural or native condition (Hessburg et al., 1999b; Swetnam et al., 1999). It was also critical that these reference conditions had to represent the dynamic character of ecosystems as they vary over time and across landscapes (Swanson et al., 1994). Describing and quantifying ecological health is difficult because ecosystems are highly complex with immense biotic and disturbance variability and diverse processes interacting across multiple space and time scales from genes to species to landscapes, and from seconds to days and centuries. One of the central concerns with implementing ecosystem management was identifying appropriate reference conditions that could be used to describe ecosystem health, prioritize those areas in decline for possible treatment, and design feasible treatments for restoring their health (Aplet et al., 2000).

The relatively new concept of historical range and variability (HRV) was introduced in the 1990s to bring understanding of past spatial and temporal variability into ecosystem management (Cissel et al., 1994; Swanson et al., 1994). HRV provided land use planning and ecosystem management a critical spatial and temporal foundation to plan and implement possible treatments to improve ecosystem health and integrity (Landres et al., 1999). Why not let recent history be a yardstick to compare ecological status and change by assuming recent historical variation represents the broad envelope of conditions that supports landscape resilience and its self-organizing capacity (Harrod et al., 1999; Hessburg et al., 1999b; Swetnam et al., 1999). Managers initially used "target" conditions developed from historical evidence to craft treatment prescriptions and prioritize areas. However, these target conditions tended to be subjective and somewhat arbitrary because they represented only one possible condition from a wide range of conditions that could be created from historical vegetation development and disturbance processes (Keane et al., 2002b). This single objective, target-based approach was then supplanted by a more comprehensive theory of HRV that is based on the full variation and range of conditions occurring across multiple scales of time and space scales, along with a plethora of descriptive ecosystem elements, to protect and conserve wildland landscapes. While easily understood, the concept of HRV can be quite difficult to implement due to scale, data, and analysis limitations (Wong and Iverson, 2004).

This paper examines the past, present, and future use of HRV in land management. We first present the central concepts and history of HRV. We then detail the key benefits and limitations of the use of the HRV concept in land management. Last, we speculate on the value of HRV in a world with rapid climate warming, exotic species invasions, and expanding land development. While the HRV concept can be used to describe any set of ecosystem or landscape characteristics, this paper will focus on the use of HRV to describe *landscape composition* (e.g., vegetation types or structural stages) and *structure* (e.g., patch characteristics, landscape pattern) in land management activities. This paper is meant as a reference or guide for managers on the pitfalls and advantages of using HRV in supporting future planning activities. While HRV has problems, we feel it offers an objective and comprehensive reference for the short- and long-term management of public landscapes, at least until advances in technology and ecological understanding provide suitable alternatives.

#### 1.1. Background

The idea of using historical conditions as reference for land management has been around for some time (Egan and Howell, 2001). In the last two decades, planners have been using target stand and landscape conditions that resemble historical analogs to guide landscape management, and research has provided various examples (Christensen et al., 1996; Fule et al., 1997; Harrod et al., 1999; Brown and Cook, 2006). However, the inclusion of temporal variability of ecosystem elements and processes into land management has only recently been proposed. In a special issue of Ecological Applications, Landres et al. (1999) presented some of the theoretical underpinnings behind HRV. Reviews and other background material on HRV and associated terminology can also be found in Kaufmann et al. (1994), Morgan et al. (1994), Swanson et al. (1994), Foster et al. (1996), Millar (1997), Aplet and Keeton (1999), Hessburg et al. (1999a), Hessburg et al. (1999b), Egan and Howell (2001), Veblen (2003) and Perera et al. (2004). The major advancement of HRV over the historical target approach is that the full range of ecological characteristics per se is a critical criterion in the evaluation and management of ecosystems (Swanson et al., 1994). It is this variability that ensures continued health, selforganization, and resilience of ecosystems and landscapes across spatio-temporal scales (Holling, 1992). Understanding the causes and consequences of this variability is key to managing landscapes that sustain ecosystems and the services they offer to society.

The theory behind HRV is that the broad historical envelope of possible ecosystem conditions, such as burned area, vegetation cover type area, or patch size distribution, provides a representative time series of reference conditions to guide land management (Aplet and Keeton, 1999) (see Fig. 1a as an example). This theory assumes the following: (1) ecosystems are dynamic, not static, and their responses to changing processes are represented by past variability (Veblen, 2003); (2) ecosystems are complex and have a range of conditions within which they are self-sustaining, and beyond this range they transition to disequilibrium (Egan and Howell, 2001; Wu et al., 2006); (3) historical conditions can serve as a proxy for ecosystem health (Swetnam et al., 1999); (4) time and space domains of HRV are sufficient to quantify variation (Turner et al., 1993); and (5) the ecological characteristics being assessed for the ecosystem or landscapes match the management objective (Keane et al., 2002b). In this paper, we refer to HRV as the variation of historical ecosystem characteristics and processes over time and space scales that are appropriate for the management application.

Any quantification of HRV requires an explicit specification of the spatial and temporal context. The spatial context is needed to ensure that the variation of the selected ecological attribute is described across the most appropriate area relative to the spatial dynamics of the ecosystem or landscape. The variability of the area occupied by a vegetation type over time, for example, generally decreases as the spatial context increases until it reaches an



Fig. 1. Examples of time series for quantifying the historical range and variation of landscapes (HRV). (A) A simple example of how the range of a landscape characteristic can be used as an expression of HRV, (B) an illustration of the HRV for landscape composition for 10,000 ha in western Montana (Keane et al., 2008), (C) a more complex HRV time series for a 50,000 ha landscape in central Utah (Pratt et al., 2006), and (D) an illustration of how HRV can be altered by a management policy (b), introduction of exotics (c), or climate change (d).

asymptote, which can be used to approximate optimal landscape size (Fortin and Dale, 2005; Karau and Keane, 2007). The optimal size of evaluation area will depend on (1) the ecosystem attribute, (2) the dynamics of major disturbance regimes, and (3) the management activity being evaluated (Tang and Gustafson, 1997). Fine woody fuel loadings, for example, would vary across smaller areas than coarse woody debris loads (Tinker and Knight, 2001).

The time scale over which HRV is evaluated must also be specified to properly interpret the underlying biophysical processes that influenced historical ecosystem dynamics, especially climate (Millar and Woolfenden, 1999) (Fig. 1b). HRV of landscape composition might be entirely different if evaluated from 1000 to 1600 A.D. versus 1600 to 1900 A.D. because of the vast differences in climates between those periods (Mock and Bartlein, 1995). Temporal scale and resolution is usually dictated by the temporal depth of the historical evidence used to describe HRV but it can also be selected to match specific management objectives. These two scale properties are both a benefit and limitation of the HRV concept (see next sections).

Since it is impossible to quantify all ecosystem characteristics across time and space scales, HRV is most effective when confined to a set of variables that contain the following properties:

• *Measurable*. The selected variables should be quantifiable across the specified temporal and spatial extent. Insect infestations, for

example, may be difficult to reconstruct over long time periods from historical evidence on the landscape.

- *Representative*. Selected variables should be representative of the patterns, processes, and characteristics that govern landscape dynamics (i.e., indicator variables). Vegetation type, for example, may be correlated to many other ecosystem characteristics, such as fire regime, to widen the scope of HRV analysis, or fire history can serve as a surrogate for vegetation successional status or disturbance frequency.
- Appropriate. Variables must be selected in the context of the management approach, objective, or application. The HRV of fine woody fuels, for example, may not be appropriate if the management activity or proposed action is to enhance wildlife habitat.

HRV may be used in many phases of land management. The departure of current conditions from historical variations have been used to prioritize and select areas for possible restoration treatments (Reynolds and Hessburg, 2005; Hessburg et al., 2007) or areas to conserve biological diversity (Aplet and Keeton, 1999). US fire management agencies have used Fire Regime Condition Class (FRCC), based on HRV of fire and vegetation dynamics, to rate and prioritize lands for fuel treatments (Hann and Bunnell, 2001; Schmidt et al., 2002; Hann, 2004) (www.frcc.gov). HRV is used in the LANDFIRE National Mapping Project to determine departure from historical conditions to calculate FRCC across the US at 30 m

pixel resolution for fire management applications (www.landfire.gov). HRV can also be used to design treatments on the landscape. The HRV of patch size and contagion, for example, can be used to design the size of treatment area and the landscape composition can be used to select the appropriate management treatment to mimic patch characteristics (Keane et al., 2002a,b).

Reference conditions for HRV have been described for many ecosystems across the western United States and Canada. Veblen and Donnegan (2005) synthesized available knowledge on forest conditions and ecosystem disturbance for National Forest lands in Colorado, USA. The ecological and economic implications of forest policies designed to emulate historical fire regimes were investigated by Thompson et al. (2006) using a simulation approach. Historical vegetation and disturbance dynamics for southern Utah were summarized in the Hood and Miller (2007) report. Wong et al. (2003) compiled an extensive reference of historical disturbance regimes for the entire province of British Columbia, Canada. Dillon et al. (2005) and Meyer et al. (2005) detail the historical variations in upland vegetation for two national forests in Wyoming. These efforts are excellent qualitative references for understanding and interpreting historical conditions, however, they do not provide the quantitative detail needed to implement the described reference conditions directly into management applications (see Fig. 1b,c).

# 2. Quantifying HRV

A comprehensive quantification of HRV demands temporally deep, spatially explicit historical data, which is rarely available and often difficult to obtain (Humphries and Bourgeron, 2001; Barrett et al., 2006) (Fig. 1b,c, for example). Historical reconstructions of ecological processes and attributes can be made from many sources if they exist for the landscape (see Egan and Howell (2001) for a summary). Patterns of fire frequency and severity can be finely to broadly quantified across space and time scales using (1) fire scar dates measured from trees, snags, stumps, and downed logs, (2) charcoal deposits in soil, lake, and ocean sediments (broad), and (3) burn boundary maps from past and present sources (Swetnam et al., 1999; Heyerdahl et al., 2001; Humphries and Bourgeron, 2001). Historical vegetation conditions can be reconstructed or described from (1) pollen deposits in lake or ocean sediments, (2) plant macrofossil assemblages deposited in middens, sediments, soils, and other sites, (3) dendrochronological stand reconstructions, (4) land survey records (Habeck, 1994), and (5) repeat photography (Gruell et al., 1982; Arno et al., 1995; Humphries and Bourgeron, 2001; Friedman and Reich, 2005; Montes et al., 2005; Schulte and Mladenoff, 2005). Unfortunately, these sources can have significant limitations when used to describe landscape-level HRV in a spatial domain appropriate to land management. These data have either a confined or unknown spatial domain because they were collected on a very small portion of the landscape (i.e., plot or patch), or they pertain to a general area (middens, lake sediments) and lack spatial specificity with respect to patterns. Moreover, some ecosystems on a landscape have little evidence of past conditions with which to quantify HRV and any available data are usually limited in temporal extent. In general, those methods that describe HRV at fine time scales, such as tree fire scar dating, are constrained to multi-centenary time scales, while those methods that cover long time spans (millennia), such as pollen and charcoal analyses, have a resolution that may be too coarse for management of spatial patterns of structure and composition (Swetnam et al., 1999).

For landscape level HRV time series development, there are three main sources of spatial data to quantify historical conditions (Humphries and Bourgeron, 2001; Keane et al., 2006b). The best sources are spatial chronosequences or digital maps of landscape characteristic(s) over many time periods. These maps can be digitized with GIS software and spatial analysis programs can be used to compute HRV statistics (McGarigal and Marks, 1995). Unfortunately, temporally deep, spatially explicit time series of historical conditions are missing for many US landscapes because aerial photography and satellite imagery are rare or non-existent before 1930 A.D. and comprehensive maps of forest vegetation are scarce, inconsistent, and limited in coverage prior to 1900 (Keane et al., 2006b). Tinker et al. (2003) quantified HRV in landscape structure using digital maps of current and past landscapes in the Greater Yellowstone Area from aerial photos and stand age interpretation.

Another HRV data source is to substitute space for time and collect spatial data across similar landscapes, from one or more times, across a large geographic region (Hessburg et al., 1999a,b). Theory posits that if one samples spatial pattern of vegetation of similar biophysical environments with similar disturbance and climatic regimes, a representative cross section of temporal variation may be observed. In effect, differences in space are equivalent to differences in time, and inferences may be drawn regarding variation in spatial pattern that might occur at a single location over time. Particularly where process explanation is sought, care must be taken in application to select study locations having comparable underlying biophysical and climatic conditions. However, subtle differences in landform, relief, soils, and climate make each landscape unique and grouping landscapes may tend to overestimate range and variability of landscape characteristics (Keane et al., 2002a). Landscapes may be similar in terms of the processes that govern vegetation, such as climate, disturbance, and species succession, but topography, soils, land use, and wind direction also influence vegetation development and fire growth (Keane et al., 2002b).

A third method of quantifying HRV involves using computer models to simulate historical dynamics to produce a time series of simulated data to compute HRV statistics and metrics (Humphries and Bourgeron, 2001) (see Fig. 1b). This approach relies on the accurate simulation of succession and disturbance processes in space and time (Keane et al., 1999). Many spatially explicit ecosystem simulation models are available for quantifying HRV patch dynamics (for reviews and summaries see Gardner et al., 1999; Mladenoff and Baker, 1999; Humphries and Baron, 2001; Keane and Finney, 2003; Keane et al., 2004), but most are (1) computationally intensive, (2) difficult to parameterize and initialize, and (3) overly complex, thereby making them difficult to use, especially for large regions, long time periods, and inexperienced staffs. On the other hand, those landscape models designed specifically for management planning may oversimplify vegetation development and disturbance (Keane et al., 2004). Even the most complex landscape models rarely simulate spatial interactions between climate, disturbance dynamics, and vegetation development because of the lack of critical research in those areas and the immense amount of computer resources required for such an effort. Simulation models can include explicit simulations of climate and human activities to generate more relevant and realistic estimates of the range and variation of landscape dynamics under today's conditions. Simulation is the most common method of creating HRV time series.

Many studies have used simulation to quantify HRV for a wide variety of landscapes and ecosystems using a wide variety of models. Non-spatial models, such as VDDT (Beukema and Kurz, 1998, were used to estimate landscape composition in a wide variety of areas from the Pacific Northwest to the northern Rocky Mountains (Hann et al., 1997; Hemstrom et al., 2001, 2007; Merzenich and Frid, 2005; Merzenich et al., 2003). The LADS model was used for the Oregon Coast Range to determine the appropriate level of old growth forests (Wimberly et al., 2000), to quantify HRV in landscape structure (Nonaka and Spies, 2005), and to simulate the effect of forest polices (Thompson et al., 2006). McGarigal et al. (2003) quantified historical forest composition and structures of Colorado landscapes. Keane et al. (2002a) simulated historical landscape patch dynamics using the LANDSUM model for northern Rocky Mountain USA landscapes. As mentioned, the LANDFIRE program quantifies historical time series for landscapes across the US using the LANDSUM model (Keane et al., 2007).

Major issues must be addressed when using simulation to generate HRV time series in spatially explicit models (see Keane 2010[in press] for a review). The size and shape of the simulation area is important to the accurate representation of HRV (Keane et al., 2002b). Long, linear simulation landscape shapes, such as those created from watershed boundaries, may be inappropriate because simulated fires often reach landscape boundaries before achieving their full size (emigration problem) resulting in simulated fire size distributions that are different from historical fire size distributions (Keane et al., 2002a). More reasonable simulation landscapes are those that are large enough to contain the biggest fires (Swanson, 1981; Swanson et al., 1997) and they are defined by simple shapes with relatively low edge (circle- or square-like, Keane et al., 2002b). A related and more important problem is the absence of fires, or other disturbance processes, that immigrate or spread into the simulation area from outside the simulation boundary. An additional buffer area about 3-5 km wide surrounding the evaluation area is often needed to ensure offsite fires are allowed to burn onto the evaluation area. If the simulated landscape is too small, the simulated disturbances will be infrequent and smaller because of the mentioned immigration limitations, resulting in additional and undesirable variation in the HRV time series (Karau and Keane, 2007) (Fig. 2).

HRV simulation modeling is rarely used to replicate past disturbance events. Instead, landscape models are employed to simulate disturbance regimes and vegetation dynamics over long time periods under static climate envelopes indirectly represented by the input parameters. Usually, parameters used in simulations are quantified from extensive sampling of past disturbance events that occurred under past climates that influenced historical disturbance and vegetation response regimes (Keane et al., 2006b). Eventually the variation in simulated attributes will tend to stabilize over long simulation time (100-500 years), especially in deterministic landscape models (Baker, 1989). Some may feel it is inappropriate to simulate fire and landscape dynamics over millennial simulation spans while holding climate and fire regimes constant. This would be true if the objective of the landscape modeling were to replicate historical fire events. However, most HRV simulation efforts attempt to describe the envelope of variability in historical landscape dynamics, so it is more important that the entire range and variation of landscape conditions and processes be documented to create a more comprehensive



Fig. 2. To create more realistic simulations, disturbance processes should be allowed to spread onto the area of evaluation. This means that an additional buffer area needs to be added to the simulation area to ensure disturbance immigration. The following buffer sizes are used (A) none, (B) 5 km, (Pratt et al., 2006).

reference database. An alternative to simulating long time spans is to conduct simulation replicates using Monte Carlo techniques providing the effects of initial conditions are minimized.

The fire history study results that are used to parameterize landscape models only represent a relatively narrow window of time (300-400 years), yet it is generally assumed that this small temporal span is a good proxy for the creation of reference conditions used in HRV simulation. Since this window is small, it may seem that only 400 years of simulation are needed to quantify HRV. However, the sampled fire events that occurred during this time represent only one realization of a time series of the initiation and spread of disturbance (fire) events that shaped the unique landscapes observed today. If these events had happened on a different timetable or in different locations, an entirely new set of landscape conditions would have resulted. It follows then that the documentation of landscape conditions from only historical records would tend to underestimate the historical variability of past conditions. Simulation models can quantify the entire range of conditions by simulating the historical fire regime for thousands of years to capture the full range of possible landscape realizations.

# 3. Applying HRV

The operational use of HRV needs a metric or statistic to compare current landscapes to the historical time series (Fig. 1b,c). This seemingly simple step is actually quite complex for a number of reasons. First, there are few statistical analyses specifically designed to evaluate multiple observation historical time series and compare against a single observation of contemporary conditions. HRV series often contain spatial and temporal autocorrelation that may influence any parametric statistical measure of variability (see next section). It is also difficult to design a statistic that will meet the needs of managers and match the goal of the HRV analysis. Landscape compositional thresholds, for example, may be determined as one standard deviation from the mean for one application, but as the 10th and 90th percentile for another (Hann, 2004). Last, there are few statistical tests to determine statistical significance of any difference in a historical-contemporary comparison (Steele et al., 2006).

Some simulation approaches use the suite of indices that have been developed in vegetation ecology for rating the similarity between plant communities (Mueller-Dombois and Ellenberg, 1974; Gauch, 1982). Hann (2004), for example, used a variation of the Sorenson's Index to compute departure in vegetation conditions for an assessment of FRCC. Keane et al. (2008) also used Sorenson's Index to evaluate the departure of future landscapes from historical and current conditions under climate change. The Sorenson's Index (SI) is:

$$SI = \left(\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \min(A_i, B_j)}{mArea_{LRU}}\right) \times 100$$

where the area of a landscape class *i*, common to both reference *A* and simulation output *B* from simulation output interval *j*, summed over all landscape classes *n* and simulation intervals *m*, divided by the total area of the landscape reporting unit (Area<sub>LRU</sub>) and number of simulation intervals (*m*), and then converted to a percentage by multiplying by 100. The resulting value has a range of 0–100, where 100 is completely similar (identical, no departure) and 0 is completely dissimilar (maximum departure). The problem with these similarity indices is that they are (1) sensitive to number of classes used in the calculation, (2) insensitive to subtle

differences across time intervals, and (3) difficult to implement in statistical analyses and tests for significance.

Steele et al. (2006) took a more statistical approach and developed a program called HRVSTAT that computes departure and a measure of significance using a regression-correlation strategy. Their program was used in the LANDFIRE prototype project to determine ecological departure (Pratt et al., 2006). Cushman and McGarigal (2007) used Principle Components Analysis to reduce multivariate variability across area by vegetation types to facilitate the measurement of departure from HRV for wildlife applications. Hessburg et al. (1999a, 1999b, 2000) used the FRAGSTATS program and an historical sample median 75 or 80% range of patch and landscape metrics (their estimate of HRV) to determine departure of contemporary conditions from the HRV. They coupled these estimates with transition analysis, which enabled them to identify transitions that were responsible for observed departures, and to detect statistically significant but "nonsense" changes resulting from rasterization of historical and contemporary vegetation coverages in the GIS.

# 4. Advantages of HRV

One advantage of the HRV approach is that it can be used for single or multiple characteristics that describes an ecosystem, stand, or landscape at any scale (Egan and Howell, 2001). The HRV of coarse woody debris loading, for example, can be computed at the stand, landscape, and regional spatial scale, and similarly, the HRV for landscape composition and patch structure can be computed for a watershed. National Forest, or an entire region. This multi-scaled, multi-characteristic approach allows HRV attributes to be matched to the specific land management objectives at their most appropriate scale. For instance, fuel managers might decide to evaluate, at a watershed level, the HRV of coarse woody fuels and severe fire behavior, along with the HRV of landscape contagion (Hessburg et al., 2007), to manage landscapes in favor of continued ecological integrity. Similarly, each HRV element can be prioritized or weighed based on their importance to the land management objective. This forms a critical linkage to adaptive land management where iterative HRV analyses can be used to balance tradeoffs in landscape integrity of ecosystems with other social issues and economic values.

Another advantage of HRV is that by including the variation of selected ecosystem attributes in the evaluation analysis, more flexible, robust, and realistic treatment regimes can be designed such that social and economic values are better balanced with ecological concerns. The idea that treatments can be scheduled to create specific target conditions into the future is flawed because of the uncertainty in unplanned disturbances such as wildfires, windstorms, or insect infestations. Instead, land areas could be periodically evaluated (e.g., every 10 years) using HRV concepts to determine if they are outside historical ranges, and, if so, appropriate treatments can be designed to return the evaluated area to a semblance of historical conditions. Planning pro-active treatments over long time periods, such as thinnings during harvest rotations, may be unreasonable where disturbance frequencies are short and their consequences more severe or variable (Agee, 1997).

Historical conditions need not be the only references for HRV analyses; other scenarios can be developed and implemented to generate time series for completely different sets of reference conditions, such as those that contain extensive domestic livestock grazing or future climatic change signals (see last section). The invasion of late serial native species or exotics may be so extensive that most of the landscape has semi-permanently departed from historical conditions and it is strictly impractical, both economically and ecologically, to return the landscape to prior conditions. Grazing can be included in the simulation as a dominant disturbance so that the associated reference condition can be derived. Exotic species may be incorporated into simulation models to show alternative pathways of development and their likelihood. In other applications, historical reference conditions may not be viable for heavily managed areas, such as recreation sites or wildland urban settings, so fire parameters, for example, can be modified to reflect an extensive fire suppression program. Multiple HRV time series can also be created for a wide variety of response variables, such as landscape composition, fuel loadings, and fire behavior. Multiple HRV time series will be very important for managing highly altered landscapes, such as those in the eastern US, China, and Europe.

Last, the most important benefit of HRV is the increased understanding about ecosystem dynamics and ecosystem responses to changing conditions. Understanding the causal mechanisms that drive ecosystem variability is essential in interpreting HRV analyses, and this understanding allows us to address inherent ecological complexity in land management. Exploring the causes underlying the HRV of fire dynamics, for example, will help design silvicultural treatments that can provide sustainable timber products while also reducing fire hazard and returning ecosystem health (Reinhardt et al., 2008).

#### 5. Limitations of HRV

While HRV seems to have many advantages for use in land management, there are also issues, caveats, and cautions in its application. This section attempts to describe the major problems with the HRV approach in an order of importance to land management. A thorough knowledge of these HRV limitations is critical for comprehensive evaluation and interpretation of HRV analysis results and implementations.

# 5.1. Limited data

Field data in adequate abundance and appropriately scaled are seldom available to define HRV of characteristics at many scales. On-site historical evidence of past disturbance events or ecological conditions is often destroyed by recurrent disturbance or decomposition, and surviving evidence often lack adequate spatial and temporal distribution and resolution for adequate HRV representation. For example, charcoal samples from varved lake sediments provide an important source of historical data, but the spatial resolution of the data is insufficient for quantifying the annual variation in patterns of fire regimes because the source area for the deposited charcoal is difficult to define. Fire scars on trees provide excellent records for the temporal resolution of fires, but scarred trees are rarely distributed across large areas at the densities needed to adequately describe fire frequency and severity and the resultant landscape characteristics, especially in stand-replacement fire regimes (Baker and Ehle, 2001; Hessburg et al., 2007). Many other ecosystems lack the means for recording disturbance events (e.g., grass and shrub lands) and our knowledge of historical trends is necessarily very limited in these systems (Swetnam et al., 1999)

#### 5.2. Autocorrelation

Most historical time series are autocorrelated in space and time (lves et al., 2003; Hsieh et al., 2008). Any place on a landscape is ultimately dependent on the condition of the surrounding area as disturbance spreads or as water flows through the landscape (Turner, 1987). Related to this that the instantaneous status of any landscape is dependent on the landscape composition and structure the previous instant, day, year, and so on with declining influence over time (Reed et al., 1998). In addition, the extent of any vegetation type used to evaluate landscape HRV is related to the extent of all other vegetation types; any increase in one type must result in the corresponding decrease of one or more of the other vegetation types (Pratt et al., 2006). It is important to minimize autocorrelation in historical time series by selecting a reporting interval that is long enough to reduce the interdependencies of time, space, and succession status but short enough to provide a sufficient number of observations to compare in a valid statistical test. This reporting interval will vary by landscape depending on fire frequency and succession transition times. The LANDFIRE prototype effort used 50-year reporting intervals to minimize autocorrelation for their LANDSUM simulations (Pratt et al., 2006). A new set of statistical analysis tools, such as those used in economics, are critically needed to compute an index of departure that is useful to land management and satisfies the assumptions of the analysis technique.

# 5.3. Scale effects

HRV is highly scale-dependent and the range and associated variation drifts with pronounced and long-term shifts in the climatic regime, disturbance regimes, geomorphic and geologic processes and also the effects of some human land uses (Morgan et al., 1994) (see Fig. 1d). Using a limited temporal and spatial extent to evaluate landscapes across large regions can introduce bias into the computation of HRV measures because spatiotemporal variation in the climatic forcing, and vegetation/ disturbance responses across a larger domain will typically be broader than would be observed in a smaller domain. For examples, the LANDFIRE prototype time span of 1600 to 1900 A.D. (Keane et al., 2007) may be inappropriate for those landscapes where fire return intervals are greater than 300 years, and the 1 km<sup>2</sup> area used to summarize HRV to compute FRCC for national fire management concerns (Schmidt et al., 2002) may be inappropriate for areas where the average fire size is greater than 1 km<sup>2</sup> (Karau and Keane, 2007).

Spatial HRV approaches can be inappropriate when applied on small areas such as stands or landforms. Karau and Keane (2007) found that simulated HRV chronosequences summarized from landscapes smaller than 100 km<sup>2</sup> increased the variability in landscape composition by over 100% due to the spatial dynamism of simulated disturbance processes (Fig. 3). Thus, quantification of HRV is likely inappropriate when applied to small areas such as stands or individual landforms. For example, consider a contemporary 10-ha stand with a Douglas-fir cover type that was historically dominated by a ponderosa pine cover type; it may be appear to be outside the HRV when considered in isolation, but it will certainly be within the HRV if it is considered in the context of a 10,000 to 100,000 ha landscape dominated by ponderosa pine (the historical dominant species). On the other hand, when evaluation landscapes become too large (>5000 km<sup>2</sup>), it becomes difficult to detect significant changes caused by small-scale ecosystem restoration or fuel treatments (Keane et al., 2006b). The optimum size of a HRV landscape reporting area is difficult to estimate because of subtle differences in topography, climate, and vegetation across large regions. Thus, it may be preferable to compute HRV across spatial scales ranging from 10<sup>4</sup> to 10<sup>5</sup> ha, depending upon the question (Karau and Keane, 2007). The resolution of the landscape is also important with higher resolutions resulting in higher variability (Fig. 3). An alternative might be to use non-spatial modeling for those areas that are small or have coarse resolution (Hemstrom et al., 2007; Merzenich and Frid. 2005).

There are several spatial domains that are important in the development and analysis of HRV time series using spatial modeling. First is the "evaluation" area defined as the context



Fig. 3. The influence of the size of the HRV reporting area on the variation of percent burned area within two large simulation landscape (A) mountainous and (B) flat (from Karau and Keane, 2007). Each line represents a different resolution for the simulation landscape. Larger areas are required to allow disturbance regimes to become fully realized and the variation of that disturbance regime to be minimized.

area being assessed using HRV approaches (Fig. 4). If a modeling approach is used to create HRV time series, this area is the "simulation landscape" minus the buffer area (see next section; see Figs. 2 and 4). This evaluation area should be large enough to ensure that variation in ecosystem processes stemming from the



**Fig. 4.** Important landscape extents that must be explicitly defined in developing HRV time series. The entire area is called the simulation landscape and it is composed of a buffer (grey) and the evaluation area (black). If modeling is not used, then the evaluation is often called the reference landscape. Within the evaluation landscape are the reporting areas for summarizing HRV time series.

inherent variability in the local (subregional) climatic and disturbance regimes, geology, and geomorphic processes is adequately represented. The evaluation area can then be divided into "reporting areas", which are the land units in which management activities may be implemented. Watersheds, landforms, square grids, or some other land stratification are often used as reporting areas. Schmidt et al. (2002) used 1 km<sup>2</sup> square pixels to summarize HRV while the LANDFIRE prototype project used a square reporting area of 0.81 km<sup>2</sup> (Pratt et al., 2006). These reporting areas must be large enough to ensure that spatial variation is minimized (Fig. 3) but small enough to be useful to management (Fig. 2).

# 5.4. Assessment techniques

There are a limited number of statistical techniques currently available to apply HRV as an assessment or monitoring tool in land management. The departure methods described above usually apply common metrics from landscape and community ecology to estimate departure from HRV, but some of the methods have limitations when used in HRV applications. For example, the Sorenson's index is sensitive to the number of classes within a feature used to describe the ecosystem, community, or landscape (Fig. 5b) (Keane et al., 2008). Furthermore, some indices are insensitive to changes in landscape composition when the same categories appear in all time sequences, especially when the landscape areas of a vegetation feature are equal. Many statistics of departure fail to detect subtle changes in current conditions resulting from management action when compared to the HRV time series (Pratt et al., 2006). Again, the spatial and temporal autocorrelation of the HRV data also pose a challenge when using these indices and standard parametric statistical techniques (Steele et al., 2006).



**Fig. 5.** The effect of the number of classes on calculation of Sorenson's Index where *fewer classes* denotes a simulation where only 20 classes (i.e., potential vegetation and succession class combinations) were used, and *more classes* represents a simulation using about 50 classes (Keane et al., 2008).

As suggested by Steele et al. (2006), simulated observations are less desirable than sample observations because simulated data depend on the assumptions of the simulation model that generated the data. Hessburg et al. (1999b), using sample-based observations, grouped 343 forested subwatersheds (~8000 ha in size) on the eastern slope of the Cascade Mountains in Washington State into ecological subregions by similarity of area in biogeoclimatic attributes. They then built spatially continuous "historical" (1938-1956) and "current" (1985–1993) vegetation maps for 48 randomly selected subwatersheds from aerial photo interpretations. From remotely sensed attributes, they classified cover types, structural classes, and potential vegetation types and attributed them to individual patches. A reference variation of landscape pattern was estimated by subwatersheds and five forested ecological subregions using spatial pattern analysis results (FRAGSTATS, McGarigal and Marks, 1995) from 48 historical vegetation maps. Finally, they compared the current pattern of an example subwatershed with the variation estimates of its corresponding subregion to illustrate how reference conditions can be used to evaluate the importance of spatial pattern change. By evaluating pattern changes in light of variation estimates, they were able to identify both current and historical conditions that fell outside the reference variation. The approach provided a tool for comparing characteristics of present-day managed landscapes with reference conditions to reveal significant pattern departures, as well as to identify specific landscape pattern characteristics that might be modified through management

#### 5.5. Complexity

The complexity of the simulation models or historical maps can also influence the comparison of historical dynamics to current conditions and ultimately affect the computation of departure. In general, highly complex mechanistic models tend to have higher variation than simplistic models. For example, Keane et al. (2008) found that state and transition pathway landscape models that contained a large number of states (e.g., succession communities or structural stages) had more elements to compare with current conditions and, as a result, the simulated variation of landscape elements was much larger (Fig. 5b). Departure from a five succession class pathway, for example, would be greater than departure from a 40 class pathway because the large number of near zero values for the majority of succession class pairs tends to lower departure estimates (Pratt et al., 2006). Departure estimation is best when succession pathway complexity or age class ranges are somewhat equal across all simulation landscapes and reporting areas.

The design of landscape models can also affect HRV time series. Absence of critical disturbance processes into the simulation design can result in limited HRV time series. For example, the lack of mountain pine beetle simulation in a model used to simulate the HRV of lodgepole pine landscapes may create historical time series that underestimate ranges and variation of lodgepole pine successional stages. Moreover, the detail at which disturbance processes are simulated can also influence HRV simulated time series. Simplistic cell automata models, for example, may generate fire perimeters that are different from perimeters simulated by complex vector spread algorithms (Gardner et al., 1997; Keane et al., 2004).

#### 5.6. Conceptual dilemmas

Historical variation may not always represent the range of conditions needed to maintain healthy, resilient ecosystems. Given the age spans of the organisms used to quantify HRV (e.g., trees are most often used to classify cover types and structural stages), it is difficult to obtain comprehensive historical data over stable climates and biophysical conditions. For example, it would be difficult to obtain the range of historical conditions of bristlecone pine or redwood dominated landscapes because these long-lived species can survive across many disparate climates and historical biophysical conditions. Therefore, the range and variation of most ecological characteristics tend to become more variable as climates represented in the historical time series become more diverse and the response times of ecosystems increase, resulting in an increase of variation of historical attributes. The problem then is to use an HRV time span that is supported by historical field data while also being representative of current and near future climate regimes.

Another dilemma is the interaction of Native American burning with the lightning-caused fires to define historical fire regimes on historically fire dominated landscapes (Barrett and Arno, 1982; Kay, 1995). Should human-caused fires be included in HRV when they are effectively absent in the current day fire regimes (Gruell, 1985; Keane et al., 2006a)? Comparing current fire regimes with historical fire regimes may be inappropriate because historical Native American influences were dominant across many areas of the US, such as in ponderosa pine ecosystems of the northern Rocky Mountains, and there will probably never be a time when humans will burn the vast amount of land that was burned by aboriginal ignitions (Arno, 1985; Gruell, 1985; Frost, 1998; Keane et al., 2006a). On the other hand, we can't discount the evolutionarily impact of thousands of years of burning by Native Americans and how such land use shaped genetic, community, and landscape ecology of today's ecosystems (Russell, 1983; Bonnicksen et al., 1999). To tease Native American burning from a purely lightning driven fire regime using historical data is difficult and problematic (Kay, 2007; Slocum et al., 2007; Bean and Sanderson, 2008), so we believe the best approach might be to consider humans as part of the historical ecosystem.

Another challenge in HRV quantification is where to bound the so called "suppression era" in HRV estimation on western US landscapes. Depending upon the geographic location, lower bounds range from the late 18th century (1770-1890, beginning with early fur trapping and trading – ending with the declining years of mining and domestic livestock grazing, Hessburg and Agee, 2003, and references therein) to the early 20th century (with the advent of the "10 AM rule" beginning in the early 1930s, but increasing in effectiveness much later). Under the 10 AM Rule, fires were targeted to be put out by 10-o-clock in the morning and kept smaller than 10 acres (4 ha). Inclusion of certain contemporary fire regime information (e.g., fire frequency and severity parameters) in the derivation of HRV estimates would decrease fire frequency and increase severity in many forested ecosystems that would result in dramatically different HRV time series (decrease variation). This era not only includes variably distributed effects of settlement and management, but also climatic variation differing from that of prior centuries (Kitzberger et al., 2007). A related dilemma is that this period is probably the most representative of possible future conditions considering expected management directions and climate trajectories. Most HRV simulations parameterize models using data from prior to the era of effective fire suppression (Keane and Finney, 2003). Added to these is another related problem: whether to include exotics in HRV analyses, given that their eradication seems unlikely in the near future. Whitebark pine landscapes, for example, may take centuries to recover from exotic blister rust infestations, even with intensive management actions (Tomback et al., 2001).

# 6. Future of HRV

# 6.1. Climate change and HRV

Some feel that HRV may no longer be a viable concept for managing lands in the future because of expected climate warming and increasing human activities across the landscape (Millar et al., 2007). Today's climates might change so rapidly and dramatically that future climates will no longer be similar to those climates that create past conditions, and the continued spread of exotic plants, diseases, and other organisms by human transport will permanently alter ecosystems (see Fig. 1d). Climate warming is expected to trigger major changes in disturbance processes, plant and animal species dynamics, and hydrological responses (Botkin et al., 2007; Schneider et al., 2007) to create new plant communities and alter landscapes that may be quite different from historical analogs (Neilson et al., 2005; Notaro et al., 2007).

At first glance, it may seem obvious that using historical references may no longer be reasonable in this rapidly changing world. However, a critical evaluation of possible alternatives may indicate that HRV, with all its faults and limitations, might be the most viable approach for the near-term because it has the least amount of uncertainty. While there is little debate that atmospheric  $CO_2$  is increasing at an alarming rate, there appears to be a great deal of uncertainty about the effect that this rapid CO<sub>2</sub> increase will have on the world's climate (IPCC, 2007; Stainforth et al., 2005; Roe and Baker, 2007). This uncertainty will certainly increase as the climate predictions are made (1) at finer resolutions, (2) for different geographical areas, and (3) for longer time periods. The range of possible predictions of future climate from General Circulation Models (anywhere from a 1.6 to 8 °C increase in global average annual temperature) is much greater than the variability of climate over the past two or three centuries (Stainforth et al., 2005). And it is the high variability of climate extremes, not the gradual change of average climate, that will drive most ecosystem response to the climate-mitigated disturbance and plant dynamics, and these rare, extreme events are difficult to predict (Easterling et al., 2000).

This uncertainty will also increase as we try to predict how the earth's ecosystems will respond to this simulated climate change (Araujo et al., 2005). Mechanistic ecological simulation of climate, vegetation, and disturbance dynamics across landscapes is still in its infancy (Sklar and Costanza, 1991; Walker, 1994; Keane and Finney, 2003). Many models are missing detailed representations and interactions of disturbance, hydrology, land use, and biological processes that will catalyze most climate interactions (Notaro et al., 2007). As an example, the major mountain pine beetle epidemic currently occurring in western North America has been attributed to climate change (Logan and Powell, 2001), yet this epidemic was not predicted by major Dynamic Global Vegetation Models because insect and disease processes are not explicitly simulated in most of these models due to a lack of knowledge of epidemic mechanisms and inappropriate scales (Neilson et al., 2005). If this one critical disturbance is not represented in ecological models, then there must also be a host of unanticipated disturbances and ecological relationships that are also missing, which could result in still higher levels of uncertainty in describing future conditions. It also follows that any prediction of future ecosystems, climates, and landscapes become more uncertain the further into the future one looks. This becomes increasingly important when we factor in society's responses to climate change through technological advances, behavioral adaptations, and population growth (Schneider et al., 2007). Last, little is known about the interactions of climate with critical plant and animal life cycle processes, especially reproduction and mortality (Keane et al., 2001; Gworek et al., 2007; Ibanez et al., 2007; Lambrecht et al., 2007), yet these process could be the most important in determining species response to climate change (Price et al., 2001; Walther et al., 2002).

Given the uncertainties in predicting climatic responses to increasing  $CO_2$  and the ecological effects of this response described above, we feel that HRV time series derived from the past may have

significantly lower uncertainty than any simulated predictions for the future. Recall that large variations in climates of the past several centuries are already reflected in the parameters used to simulate HRV time series. In that light, we suggest it may be prudent to wait until simulation technology has improved to include credible pattern and process interactions with regional climate dynamics and there has been significant model validation before we throw out the concept and application of HRV. Improving ecosystems models may take decades before realistic landscape simulations can be used to account for climate change in species and landscape response. In the meantime, it is doubtful that the use of HRV to guide management efforts will result in inappropriate activities considering the large genetic variation in most species (Rehfeldt et al., 1999; Davis et al., 2005) and the robustness inherent in regional landscapes that display the broad range of conditions inherent in HRV projections

#### 6.2. Management implications

To use HRV in an operational context, it must be assumed that the record of historical conditions more or less reflects the range of possible conditions for future landscapes; an assumption that we now know is overly simplistic because of documented climate change, exotic introductions, and human land use. While managers need to recognize the importance of using historical landscape dynamics as HRV reference conditions to ensure there is minimal loss of important landscape elements, managers also need to evaluate if current management will be within acceptable and feasible bounds for potential future landscape conditions. Looking both to the past and to the future will be essential for the future of land management. The most obvious action is to augment an HRV time series with an additional reference time series, we call FRV (Future Range and Variation), which represents predicted characteristics of future landscapes and ecosystems. These FRV time series can be generated from complex climate sensitive landscape models that mechanistically simulate disturbance and vegetation developmental processes in a spatial domain (Bachelet et al., 2001; Keane et al., 2004).

Again, historical and future variation scenarios need not be the only two scenarios used to compute departure and summarize HRV for simulation landscapes. Other scenarios should also be developed and simulated to represent other potential futures. For example, a set of six FRV scenarios may be designed to encompass three possible GCM climate predictions with and without exotics. Keane et al. (2008) developed a simulation design for two climate change scenarios with three levels of wildland fire occurrence. Current landscape conditions can be compared with all FRV scenarios using qualitative evaluation or quantitative statistical analysis to determine which landscapes to treat, how to design the most appropriate treatment, and where to implement these treatments using decision support software (Hessburg et al., 2007). The priority and weight given to each FRV scenario can be assigned according to management objective.

Future management efforts must also account for the high uncertainty in future climate and species migrations using ecological theory and principles. Millar et al. (2007) advocate an integrated ecological approach for managing future landscapes using a set of adaptation options that include enhancing resistance to climate change, promoting resilience to change, and enabling ecosystems to respond to change. Land managers must learn to anticipate responses to future climates and manage landscape and ecosystems to maximize resilience and stability so that future activities do not create conditions that facilitate the local or regional extinction of important species or processes. It is unfortunate that the anticipated shifts in climate from greenhouse gas emissions occur at the same time as exotic disease, animal, and plant species invasions and decades of fire suppression. Temperton et al. (2004) believes that there is no ideal reference for any ecosystem or landscape, but historical context must be considered to determine reasonable reference states. They advocate that assembly rules (ecological restrictions on the observed patterns of species dynamics) could be used to construct plausible restoration or management goals, especially under rapid climate change.

In closing, we feel it is important to mention that future land management and society will also require a brand new land ethic to provide context in which to make land management decisions. If expected biotic responses to climate change come true, tomorrow's landscapes will be so altered by human actions that current management philosophies and policies of managing for healthy ecosystems, wilderness conditions, or historical analogs will no longer be feasible because these objectives will be impossible to achieve in the future. Will the elimination of exotic plants and diseases, for example, still be an important management objective if we know that other novel plant communities may inhabit tomorrow's landscapes. A new management approach may be needed to balance ecology principles with society's demand for resource to create landscapes that are sustainable, ecological viable, and acceptable to society. Using assembly rules to restore landscapes may offer a possible direction (Temperton et al., 2004). Conserving historical landscape features while also providing for future species migrations and changes in disturbance regimes may be another strategy. In the end, this may require a totally different land ethic than we used to guide management in the past (e.g., fire suppression). Such an ethic will most likely require that we more explicitly identify the goals we intend to fulfill, and how and where these goals can be integrated across the landscape.

#### Acknowledgements

This paper was written as a result of a HRV and climate change workshop held April 2008 in Washington, DC, USA and sponsored by The Nature Conservancy and USDA Forest Service. We thank those participants for their discussion and ideas.

# References

- Agee, J.K., 1997. Fire management for the 21st century. In: Kohm, K.A., Franklin, J.F. (Eds.), Creating A Forestry for the 21st Century: The Science of Ecosystem Management. Island Press, Washington, DC, pp. 191–201.
- Aplet, G., Keeton, W.S., 1999. Application of historical range of variability concepts to biodiversity conservation. In: Baydack, R.K., Campa, H., Haufler, J.B. (Eds.), Practical Approaches to the Conservation of Biological Diversity. Island Press, NY, New York, pp. 71–86.
- Aplet, G., Thomson, J., Wilbert, M., 2000. Indicators of wildness: using attributes of the land to assess the context of wilderness. In: McCool, S.F., Cole, D.N., Borrie, W.T., O'Loughlin, J. (Eds.), Wilderness Science in a Time of Change. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, RMRS-P-15-VOL-2, Missoula, MT, pp. 89–98.
- Araujo, M.B., Whittaker, R.J., Ladle, R.J., Erhard, M., 2005. Reducing uncertainty in projections of extinction risk from climate change. Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters 14, 529–538.
- Arno, S.F., 1985. Ecological effects and management implications of Indian fires. In: Lotan, J.E., Kilgore, B.M. Fischer, W.C., Mutch, R.W. (tech. coordinators) (Eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium and Workshop on Wilderness Fire. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report INT-182, pp. 81–89.
- Arno, S.F., Scott, J.H., Hartwell, M.G., 1995. Age-Class Structure of Old Growth Ponderosa Pine/Douglas-fir Stands and its Relationship to Fire History. Intermountain Research Station, Forest Service, USDA.
- Bachelet, D., Neilson, R.P., Lenihan, J.M., Drapek, R.J., 2001. Climate change effects on vegetation distribution and carbon budget in the United States. Ecosystems 4, 164–185.
- Baker, W.L., 1989. A review of models of landscape change. Landscape Ecology 2, 111–133.
- Baker, W.L., Ehle, D., 2001. Uncertainty in surface-fire history: the case of ponderosa pine forests in the western United States. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31, 1205–1226.
- Barrett, S.W., Arno, S.F., 1982. Indian fires as an ecological influence in the northern Rockies. Journal of Forestry 647–651.
- Barrett, S.W., DeMeo, T., Jones, J.L., Zeiler, J.D., Hutter, L.C., 2006. Assessing ecological departure from reference conditions with the Fire Regime Condition Class

(FRCC) mapping tool. In: Andrews, P.L., Butler, B.W. (Eds.), Fuels Management – How to Measure Success. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Portland, OR, USA, pp. 575–585.

- Bean, W.T., Sanderson, E.W., 2008. Using a spatially explicit ecological model to test scenarios of fire use by Native Americans: an example from the Harlem Plains, New York, NY. Ecological Modelling 211, 301–308.
- Beukema, S.J., Kurz, W.A., 1998. Vegetation dynamics development tool users Guide Version 3.0. ESSA Technologies, #300-1765 West 8th Avenue, Vancouver, BC, Canada.
- Bonnicksen, T.M., Anderson, M.K., Lewis, H.T., Kay, C.E., Knudson, R., 1999. Native American influences on the development of forest ecosystems. In: Szaro, R.C., Johnson, N.C., Sexton, W.T., Malk, A.J. (Eds.), Ecological Stewardship: A Common Reference for Ecosystem Management, pp. 439–470.
- Botkin, D.B., Saxe, H., Araujo, M.B., Betts, R., Bradshaw, R.W., Cedhagen, T., others, A., 2007. Forecasting the effects of global warming on biodiversity. Bioscience 57, 227–236.
- Bourgeron, P.S., Jensen, M.E., 1994. An overview of ecological principles for ecosystem management. In: Jensen, M.E., Bourgeron, P.S. (Eds.), Ecosystem Management: Principles and Applications. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon, pp. 45–57.
- Brown, P.M., Cook, B., 2006. Early settlement forest structure in Black Hills ponderosa pine forests. Forest Ecology and Management 223, 284–290.
- Christensen, N.L., Bartuska, A.M., Brown, J.H., Carpenter, S., D'Antonio, C., Francis, R., Franklin, J.F., MacMahon, J.A., Noss, R.F., Parsons, D.J., Peterson, C.H., Turner, M.G., Woodmansee, R.G., 1996. The report of the ecological society of America committee on the scientific basis for ecosystem management. Ecological Applications 6, 665–691.
- Cissel, J.H., Swanson, F.J., McKee, W.A., Burditt, A.L., 1994. Using the past to plan the future in the Pacific Northwest. Journal of Forestry 92 (30–31), 46.
- Crow, T.R., Gustafson, E.J., 1997. Ecosystem management: managing natural resources in time and space. In: Kohm, K.A., Franklin, J.F. (Eds.), Creating Forestry for the 21st Century. Island Press, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 215–229.
- Cushman, S.A., McGarigal, K., 2007. Multivariate landscape trajectory analysis: an example using simulation modeling of American Marten habitat change under four timber harvest scenarios. In: Bissonette, J.A., Storch, I. (Eds.), Temporal Dimensions of Landscape Ecology Wildlife Responses to Variable Resources. Springer, US, pp. 119–140.
- Davis, M.B., Shaw, R.G., Etterson, J.R., 2005. Evolutionary responses to changing climates. Ecology 86, 1704–1714.
- Dillon, G.K., Knight, D.H., Meyer, C.B., 2005. Historic range of variability for upland vegetation in the Medicine Bow National Forest, Wyoming. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, p. 85.
- Easterling, D.R., Meehl, G.A., Parmesan, C., Changnon, S.A., Karl, T.R., Mearns, L.O., 2000. Climate extremes: observations, modeling, and impacts. Science 289, 2068–2074.
- Egan, D., Howell, E.A. (Eds.), 2001. The Historical Ecology Handbook. Island Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Fortin, M.J., Dale, M.R., 2005. Spatial Analysis: A Guide for Ecologists. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Foster, D.R., Orwig, D.A., McLachlan, J.S., 1996. Ecological and conservation insights from reconstructive studies of temperate old-growth forests. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 11, 419–425.
- Friedman, S.K., Reich, P.B., 2005. Regional legacies of logging: departure from presettlement forest conditions in northern Minnesota. Ecological Applications 15, 726–744.
- Frost, C.C., 1998. Presettlement fire frequency regimes of the United States: a first approximation. Tall Timbers Fire Ecology Conference 20, 70–81.
- Fule, P.Z., Covington, W.W., Moore, M.M., 1997. Determining reference conditions for ecosystem management of southwestern ponderosa pine forests. Ecological Applications 7, 895–908.
- Gardner, R.H.R., William, H., Turner Monica, G., 1997. Effects of scale-dependent processes on predicting patterns of forest fires. In: Walker, B.H., Steffen, W.L. (Eds.), Global Change and Terrestrial Ecosystems. Cambridge, UK, pp. 111–134.
- Gardner, R.H., William, H., Romme, Turner, M.G., 1999. Predicting forest fire effects at landscape scales. In: Mladenoff, D.J., Baker, W.L. (Eds.), Spatial Modeling of Forest Landscape Change: Approaches and Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, pp. 163–185.
- Gauch, H.G., 1982. Multivariate Analysis in Community Ecology. Cambridge University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Gruell, G.E., 1985. Indian fires in the interior west: a widespread influence. In: Lotan, J.E., Kilgore, B.M., Fischer, W.C. (Coordinators), R.W.M.t. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Symposium and Workshop on Wilderness Fire. USDA Forest Service, pp. 62–74.
- Gruell, G.E., Schmidt, W.C., Arno, S.F., Reich, W.J., 1982. Seventy years of vegetative change in a managed ponderosa pine forest in western Montana—implications for resource management. USDA Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Ogden, UT, p. 41.
- Gworek, J.R., Vander Wall, S.B., Brussard, P.F., 2007. Changes in biotic interactions and climate determine recruitment of Jeffrey pine along an elevation gradient. Forest Ecology and Management 239, 57–68.
- Habeck, J.R., 1994. Using General Land Office records to assess forest succession in ponderosa pine-Douglas-fir forests in western Montana. Northwest Science 68, 69–78.
- Hann, W.J., 2004. Mapping fire regime condition class: a method for watershed and project scale analysis. In: Engstrom, R.T., Galley, K.E.M., De Groot, W.J. (Eds.), 22nd Tall Timbers Fire Ecology Conference: Fire in Temperate, Boreal, and Montane Ecosystems. Tall Timbers Research Station, pp. 22–44.

Hann, W.J., Bunnell, D.L., 2001. Fire and land management planning and implementation across multiple scales. International Journal of Wildland Fire 10, 389–403.

- Hann, W.J., Jones, J., Karl, MG, Hessburg PF, Keane, RE, Long, DG, Menakis, JP, McNicoll, C, Leonard, SG, Gravenmier, RA Smith, B.G., 1997. An assessment of ecosystem components in the Interior Columbia Basin and portions of the Klamath and Great Basins Vol. II—Landscape dynamics of the Basin. USDA Forest Service Pacific Northwest Research Station General Technical Report PNW-GTR-405. p. 1055.
- Harrod, R.J., McRae, B.H., Hartl, W.e., 1999. Historical stand reconstruction in ponderosa pine forests to guide silvicultural prescriptions. Forest Ecology and Management 114, 433–446.
- Hemstrom, M.A., Korol, J.J., Hann, W.J., 2001. Trends in terrestrial plant communities and landscape health indicate the effects of alternative management strategies in the interior Columbia River basin. Forest Ecology and Management 153 (1–3), 105–126.
- Hemstrom, M.A., Merzenich, J., et al., 2007. Integrated analysis of landscape management scenarios using state and transition models in the upper Grande Ronde River Subbasin, Oregon, USA. Landscape and Urban Planning 80 (3), 198– 211.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Salter, R.B., 1999a. A method for detecting ecologically significant change in forest spatial patterns. Ecological Applications 9, 1252– 1272.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Salter, R.B., 1999b. Detecting change in forest spatial patterns from reference conditions. Ecological Applications 9, 1232–1252.
- Hessburg, P.F., Smith, B.G., Salter, R.B., Ottmar, R.D., Alvarado, E., 2000. Recent changes (1930's-1990's) in spatial patterns of interior northwest forests, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 136, 53–83.
- Hessburg, P.F., Reynolds, K.M., Keane, R.E., James, K.M., Salter, R.B., 2007. Evaluating wildland fire danger and prioritizing vegetation and fuels treatments. Forest Ecology and Management 247, 1–17.
- Heyerdahl, E.K., Brubaker, L.B., Agee, J.K., 2001. Spatial controls of historical fire regimes: a multiscale example from the Interior West, USA. Ecology 82, 660– 678.
- Holling, C.S., 1992. Cross-scale morphology, geometry, and dynamics of ecosystems. Ecological Monographs 62, 447–502.
- Hood, S.M., Miller, M., 2007. Fire ecology and management of the major ecosystems of southern Utah. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, p. 110.
- Hsieh, Ch., Anderson, C., Sugihara, G., 2008. Extending nonlinear analysis to short ecological time series. The American Naturalist 171, 71–80.
- Humphries, H.C., Baron, J., 2001. Ecosystem structure and function modeling. In: Jensen, M.E., Bourgeron, P.S. (Eds.), A Guidebook for Integrated Ecological Assessments. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA, pp. 257–273.
- Humphries, H.C., Bourgeron, P.S., 2001. Methods for determining historical range of variability. In: Jensen, M.E., Bourgeron, P.S. (Eds.), A Guidebook for Integrated Ecological Assessments. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA, pp. 273– 291.
- Ibanez, I., Clark, J.S., LaDeau, S., Lambers, J.H.R., 2007. Exploiting temporal variability to understand tree recruitment response to climate change. Ecological Monographs 77, 163–177.
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007 The Physical Science Basis. Cambridge University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Ives, A.R., Dennis, B., Cottingham, K.L., Carpenter, S.R., 2003. Estimating community stability and ecological interactions from time series data. Ecological Monographs 73, 301–330.
- Karau, E.C., Keane, R.E., 2007. Determining landscape extent for succession and disturbance similuation modeling. Landscape Ecology 22, 993–1006.
- Kaufmann, M.R., Graham, R.T., Boyce, D.A.J., Moir, W.H., Perry, L., Reynolds, R.T., Bassett, R.L., Mehlhop, P., Edminster, C.B., Block, W.M., Corn, P.S., 1994. An ecological basis for ecosystem management. In. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, p. 22.
- Kay, C.E., 1995. Aboriginal overkill and native burning: implications for modern ecosystem management. Western Journal of Applied Forestry 10, 121–126.
- Kay, C.E., 2007. Are lightning fires unnatural? A comparison of aboriginal and lightning ignition rates in the United States. In: Masters, R.E., Galley, K.E.M. (Eds.), Proceedings of the 23rd Tall Timbers Fire Ecology Conference: Fire in Grassland and Shrubland Ecosystems. Tall Timbers Research Station, Tallahassee, FL, pp. 16–28.
- Keane, R.E., Finney, M.A., 2003. The simulation of landscape fire, climate, and ecosystem dynamics. In: Veblen, T.T., Baker, W.L., Montenegro, G., Swetnam, T.W. (Eds.), Fire and Global Change in Temperate Ecosystems of the Western Americas. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA, pp. 32–68.
- Keane, R.E., Morgan, P., White, J., 1999. Temporal pattern of ecosystem processes on simulated landscapes of Glacier National Park, USA. Landscape Ecology 14, 311– 329.
- Keane, R.E., Michael Austin, Dalman, R., Field, C., Huth, A., Lexer, M., Peters, D., Solomon, A., Wycoff, P., 2001. Tree mortality in gap models: application to climate change. Climatic Change 51, 509–540.
- Keane, R.E., Garner, J., Teske, C., Stewart, C., Paul, H., 2002a. Range and variation in landscape patch dynamics: implications for ecosystem management. In, Proceedings from the 1999 National Silviculture Workshop. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Kalispell, MT, USA, pp. 19–26.
- Keane, R.E., Parsons, R., Hessburg, P., 2002b. Estimating historical range and variation of landscape patch dynamics: Limitations of the simulation approach. Ecological Modelling 151, 29–49.

- Keane, R.E., Cary, G., Davies, I.D., Flannigan, M.D., Gardner, R.H., Lavorel, S., Lennihan, J.M., Li, C., Rupp, T.S., 2004. A classification of landscape fire succession models: spatially explicit models of fire and vegetation dynamic. Ecological Modelling 256, 3–27.
- Keane, R.E., Arno, S.F., Dickinson, L.J., 2006a. The complexity of managing firedependent ecosystems in wilderness: relict ponderosa pine in the Bob Marshall Wilderness. Ecological Restoration 24, 71–78.
- Keane, R.E., Holsinger, L., Pratt, S., 2006b. Simulating historical landscape dynamics using the landscape fire succession model LANDSUM version 4.0. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, p. 73.
- Keane, R.E., Rollins, M.G., Zhu, Z., 2007. Using simulated historical time series to prioritize fuel treatments on landscapes across the United States: the LANDFIRE prototype project. Ecological Modelling 204, 485–502.
- Keane, R.E., Holsinger, L., Parsons, R., Gray, K., 2008. Climate change effects on historical range of variability of two large landscapes in western Montana, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 254, 274–289.
- Kitzberger, T., Brown, P.M., Heyerdahl, E.K., Swetnam, T.W., Veblen, T.T., 2007. Contingent Pacific-Atlantic Ocean influence on multicentury wildfire synchrony over western North America. PNAS 104, 543–548.
- Lambrecht, S.C., Loik, M.E., Inouye, D.W., Harte, J., 2007. Reproductive and physiological responses to simulated climate warming for four subalpine species. New Phytologist 173, 121–134.
- Landres, P.B., Penelope, Morgan, Swanson, F.J., 1999. Overview and use of natural variability concepts in managing ecological systems. Ecological Applications 9, 1179–1188.
- Laughlin, D.C., Bakker, J.D., Stoddard, M.T., Daniels, M.L., Springer, J.D., Gildar, C.N., Green, A.M., Covington, W.W., 2004. Toward reference conditions: wildfire effects on flora in an old growth ponderosa pine forest. Forest Ecology and Management 199, 137–152.
- Logan, J.A., Powell, J.A., 2001. Ghost forests, global warming, and the mountain pine beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). American Entomologist 47, 160–173.
- McGarigal, K., Marks, B.J., 1995. FKAGSTATS: spatial pattern analysis program for quantifying landscape structure. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report PNW-GTR-351. p. 122.
- McGarigal, K., Romme, W.H., Goodwin, D., Haugsjaa, E., 2003. Simulating the dynamics in landscape structure and wildlife habitat in Rocky Mountain landscapes: The Rocky Mountain Landscape Simulator (RMLANDS) and associated models. Department of Natural Resources Conservation, University of Massachusetts, Amherst, MA, p. 19.
- Merzenich, J., Frid, L., 2005. Projecting landscape conditions in southern Utah using VDDT. Systems Analysis in Forest Resources: In: Bevers, M., Barrett, T.M. (Eds.), Proceedings of the 2003 Symposium. Stevenson, WA, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, pp. 157–163.
- Merzenich, J., Kurz, W.A., et al., 2003. Determining forest fuel treatments for the Bitterroot front using VDDT. In: Arthaud, G.J., Barrett, T.M. (Eds.), Systems Analysis in Forest Resources. Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 47–59.
- Meyer, C.B., Knight, D.H., Dillon, G.K., 2005. Historic range of variability for upland vegetation in the Bighorn National Forest, Wyoming. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, p. 80.
  Millar, C.I., 1997. Comments on historical variation and desired future conditions as
- MIIIar, C.I., 1997. Comments on historical variation and desired future conditions as tools for terrestrial landscape analysis. In: Sommarstrom, S. (Ed.), Sixth Biennial Watershed Management Conference. University of California at Davis, pp. 105– 131.
- Millar, C.I., Woolfenden, W.B., 1999. The role of climate change in interpreting historical variability. Ecological Applications 9, 1207–1216.
   Millar, C.I., Stephenson, N.L., Stephens, S.L., 2007. Climate change and forests of the
- Millar, C.I., Stephenson, N.L., Stephens, S.L., 2007. Climate change and forests of the future: managing in the face of uncertainty. Ecological Applications 17, 2145– 2151.
- Mladenoff, D.J., Baker, W.L., 1999. Spatial Modeling of Forest Landscape Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Mock, C.J., Bartlein, P.J., 1995. Spatial variability of late-quaternary paleoclimates in the western United States. Quaternary Research 44, 425–433.
- Montes, F., Sanchez, M., del Rio, M., Canellas, I., 2005. Using historical management records to characterize the effects of management on the structural diversity of forests. Forest Ecology and Management 207, 279–293.
- Morgan, P., Aplet, G.H., Haufler, J.B., Humphries, H.C., Moore, M.M., Wilson, W.D., 1994. Historical range of variability: a useful tool for evaluating ecosystem change. Journal of Sustainable Forestry 2, 87–111.
- Mueller-Dombois, D., Ellenberg, H., 1974. Aims and Methods of Vegetation Ecology. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York, USA.
- Neilson, R.P., Pitelka, L.F., Solomon, A.M., Nathan, R.J., Midgeley, G.F., Fragoso, J.M., Lischke, H., Thompson, K., 2005. Forecasting regional to global plant migration in response to climate change. Bioscience 55, 749–760.
- Nonaka, E., Spies, T.A., 2005. Historical range of variability in landscape structure: a simulation study in Oregon, USA. Ecological Applications 15, 1727–1746.
- Notaro, M., Vavrus, S., Liu, Z., 2007. Global vegetation and climate change due to future increases in  $CO_2$  as projected by a fully coupled model with dynamic vegetation. Journal of Climate 20, 70–88.
- Perera, A.H., Buse, L.J., Weber, M.G. (Eds.), 2004. Emulating Natural Forest Landscape Disturbances: Concepts and Applications. Columbia University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Pratt, S.D., Holsinger, L., Keane, R.E., 2006. Modeling historical reference conditions for vegetation and fire regimes using simulation modeling. In: Rollins, M.G., Frame, C. (Eds.), The LANDFIRE Prototype Project: Nationally Consistent and Locally Relevant Geospatial Data for Wildland Fire Management. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, pp. 277–314.

- Price, D.T., Zimmerman, N.E., van der Meer, P.J., Lexer, M.J., Leadley, P., Jorritsma, I.T.M., Schaber, J., Clark, D.F., Lasch, P., McNulty, S., Wu, J., Smith, B., 2001. Regeneration in gap models: priority issues for studying forest responses to climate change. Climatic Change this issue.
- Reed, W.J., Larsen, C.P.S., Johnson, E.A., MacDonald, G.M., 1998. Estimation of temporal variations in historical fire frequency from time-since-fire map data. Forest Science 44, 465–475.
- Rehfeldt, G.E., Ying, C.C., Spittlehouse, D.L., Hamilton, D.A., 1999. Genetic responses to climate in *Pinus contorta*: niche breadth, climate change, and reforestation. Ecological Monographs 69, 375–407.
- Reinhardt, E.D., Keane, R.E., Caulkin, D.E., Cohen, J.D., 2008. Objectives and considerations for wildland fuel treatment in forested ecosystems of the interior western United States. Forest Ecology and Management 256, 1997–2006.
- Reynolds, K.M., Hessburg, P.F., 2005. Decision support for integrated landscape evaluation and restoration planning. Forest Ecology and Management 207, 263–278.
- Roe, G.H., Baker, M.B., 2007. Why is climate sensitivity so unpredictable. Science 318, 629–632.
- Russell, E.W.B., 1983. Indian-set fires in the forests of the northeastern United States. Ecology 64, 78–88.
- Schmidt, K.M., Menakis, J.P., Hardy, C.C., Hann, W.J., Bunnell, D.L., 2002. Development of coarse-scale spatial data for wildland fire and fuel management. USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fort Collins, CO, USA, p. 41.
- Schneider, S.H., Semenov, S., Patwardhan, A., Burton, I., Magadza, C.H.D., Oppenheimer, M., Pittock, A.B., Rahman, A., Smith, J.B., Suarez, A., Yamin, F., 2007. Assessing key vulnerabilities and the risk from climate change. In: Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, P.J., van der Linden, P., Hanson, C.E. (Eds.), Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 779–810.
- Schulte, L.A., Mladenoff, D.J., 2005. Severe wind and fire regimes in northern forests: historical variability at the regional scale. Ecology 86, 431–445.
- Sklar, F.H., Costanza, R., 1991. The devolpment of dynamic spatial models for landscape ecology: a review and prognosis. In: Turner, M.G., Gardner, R.H. (Eds.), Quantitative Methods in Landscape Ecology. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 239–288.
- Slocum, M.G., Platt, W.J., Beckage, B., Panko, B., Lushine, J.B., 2007. Decoupling natural and anthropogenic fire regimes: a case study in Everglades National Park, Florida. Natural Areas Journal 27, 41–55.
- Stainforth, D.A., Aina, T., Christensen, C., Collins, M., Fauli, N., Frame, D.J., Kettleborough, J.A., Knight, S., Martin, A., Murphy, J.M., Piani, C., Sexton, D., Smith, L.A., Spicer, R.A., Thorpe, A.J., Allen, M.R., 2005. Uncertainty in predictions of the climate response to rising levels of greenhouse gases. Nature 433, 403–406.
- Steele, B.M., Reddy, S.K., Keane, R.E., 2006. A methodology for assessing departure of current plant communities from historical conditions over large landscapes. Ecological Modelling 199, 53–63.
- Swanson, F.J., 1981. Fire and the geomorphic processes. In: Mooney, H.A., T.M. Bonnicksen, N.L. Christensen, J.E. Lotan, and W.A. Reiners (Technical Coordinators), Proceedings of the Conference Fire Regimes and Ecosystem Properties. USDA Forest Service, pp. 401–444.
  Swanson, F.J., Jones, J.A., Wallin, D.O., Cissel, J.H., 1994. Natural variability –
- Swanson, F.J., Jones, J.A., Wallin, D.O., Cissel, J.H., 1994. Natural variability implications for ecosystem management. vol. II: Ecosystem management principles and applications. In: Jensen, M.E., Bourgeron, P.S. (Eds.), Eastside Forest

Ecosystem Health Assessment. USDA Forest Service Pacific Northwest Research Station, pp. 80–94.

- Swanson, F.J., Franklin, J.F., Sedell, J.R., 1997. Landscape patterns, disturbance, and management in the Pacific Northwest, USA. In: Zonnneveld, I.S., Forman, R.T.T. (Eds.), Changing Landscapes: An Ecological Perspective. Springer–Verlag, New York, New York, USA, pp. 191–213.
- Swetnam, T.W., Allen, C.D., Betancourt, J.L., 1999. Applied historical ecology: using the past to manage for the future. Ecological Applications 9, 1189–1206.
- Tang, S.M., Gustafson, E.J., 1997. Perception of scale in forest management planning: challenges and implications. Landscape and Urban Planning 39, 1–9.
- Temperton, V.M., Hobbs, R.J., Nuttle, T., Halle, S. (Eds.), 2004. Assembly Rules and Restoration Ecology: Bridging the Gap between Theory and Practice. Island Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Thompson, J.R., Johnson, K.N., Lennette, M., Spies, T.A., Bettinger, P., 2006. Historical disturbance regimes as a reference for forest policy in a multiowner province: a simulation experiment. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36, 401–417.
- Tinker, D.B., Knight, D.H., 2001. Temporal and spatial dynamics of coarse woody debris in harvested and unharvested lodgepole pine forests. Ecological Modelling 141, 125–149.
- Tinker, D.B., Romme, W.H., Despain, D.G., 2003. Historic range of variability in landscape structure in subalpine forests of the greater Yellowstone area, USA. Landscape Ecology 18, 427–439.
- Tomback, D., Arno, S.F., Keane, R.E., 2001. Whitebark pine communities: Ecology and Restoration. Island Press, Washington DC, USA.
- Turner, M., 1987. Landscape Heterogeneity and Disturbance. Springer Verlag, NY. Turner, M.G., Romme, W.H., Gardner, R.H., O'Neill, R.V., Kratz, T.K., 1993. A revised concept of landscape equilibrium: disturbance and stability on scaled landscapes. Landscape Ecology 8, 213–227.
- Veblen, T.T., 2003. Historic range of variability of mountain forest ecosystems: concepts and applications. The Forestry Chronicle 79, 223–226.
- Veblen, T.T., Donnegan, J.A., 2005. Historical range of variability for forest vegetation on National Forest of the Colorado Front Range. USDA Forest Service, Fort Collins, Colorado, p. 153.
- Walker, B.H., 1994. Landscape to regional-scale responses of terrestrial ecosystems to global change. Ambio 23, 67–73.
- Walther, G.-R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T.J.C., Fromentin, J.-M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Bairlein, F., 2002. Ecological Responses to Recent Climate Change 416, 389–395.
- Whitford, W.G.R.D.J., deSoyza, A.G., 1999. Using resistance and resilience measurements for 'fitness' tests in ecosystem health. Journal of Environmental Management 57, 21–29.
- Wimberly, M.C., Spies, T.A., Long, C.J., Whitlock, C., 2000. Simulating historical variability in the amount of old forest in the Oregon Coast Range. Conservation Biology 14, 167–180.
- Wong, C.M., Iverson, K., 2004. Range of natural variability: applying the concept to forest management in central British Columbia, BC. Journal of Ecosystems and Management Extension Note 4, 1–56.
- Wong, C.M., Dorner, B., Sandmann, H., 2003. Estimating historical variability of natural disturbances in British Columbia. BC Ministry of Forests, Forest Science Program, Ministry of Sustainable Resource Management, Resource Planning Branch, Victoria, BC, Canada, p. 140.
- Wu, J., Jones, B., Li, H., Loucks, O.L., 2006. Scaling and Uncertainty Analysis in Ecology. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.